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INTRODUCTION 

Through various locations in Illinois and beyond, the company commonly known as 

WeWork is a market leader in providing shared workspaces and other services to its members.  

On November 5, 2019, Plaintiff filed this putative class action against more than a dozen 

WeWork entities, alleging that as a condition of entering one of their locations, he was required 

to have his facial geometry scanned.  (For simplicity, in this brief we refer to the dozen WeWork 

defendants as “WeWork” or “Defendants.”)  In a vague and conclusory fashion, Plaintiff alleges 

that when scanning his facial geometry, WeWork did not comply with the requirements of the 

Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act (“BIPA”).   

Plaintiff’s claims belong in arbitration, not in federal court.  Plaintiff agreed to terms and 

conditions that contain an arbitration provision that both encompasses the claims set forth in this 

litigation and, to the extent there is any doubt, reserves questions of arbitrability to an arbitrator.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claims must be resolved in arbitration, and the Court should dismiss the 

litigation. 

Even if the Court does not dismiss because of the arbitration provision, the Court should 

still dismiss this action because Plaintiff’s Complaint does not state a claim for three independent 

reasons.  First, Plaintiff’s only specific allegation—that he was forced to scan his facial geometry 

in 2017—establishes that his claims are barred by the one-year limitations period that applies to 

BIPA claims.  Second, the Complaint, which is boilerplate and almost entirely conclusory, does 

not sufficiently notify WeWork of the conduct that Plaintiff alleges violated BIPA.  Third, 

Plaintiff fails to allege that the Defendants violated the statute negligently, recklessly, or 

intentionally, a fundamental element necessary to state a claim under BIPA. 
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2  

BACKGROUND 

Plaintiff Elliott Osborne filed his Class Action Complaint in the Circuit Court of Cook 

County, Illinois, and Defendant WeWork Companies1 removed the case to this Court on 

December 20, 2019.  (See Dkt No. 1.)  The Complaint is noticeably light on details: despite 

naming more than a dozen defendants, none of its factual allegations are directed at a specific 

entity. 

In sum, Plaintiff alleges that “[w]hen an individual . . . arrives at a WeWork office space, 

he or she is enrolled in WeWork’s facial recognition database(s) using a previously provided 

photo or scan of his or her facial geometry.”  (Compl.2 ¶ 5.)  According to Plaintiff, that scan is 

used to track members’ “movement in and out of the office.”  (Id. ¶ 6.) 

Plaintiff’s only specific allegations about his own experience are that he “worked for 

SpotHero in 2017 out of a WeWork office space located at 125 South Clark Street, Chicago, 

Illinois, 60603,” and “WeWork” required him to “have a photograph of his face taken to use as a 

method for monitoring him in WeWork’s office space.”  (Id. ¶¶ 59–60.)  Without explaining the 

basis for his allegations, what happens to this alleged photograph, or how it is apparently 

transformed into “facial geometry,” Plaintiff then alleges that the collective “WeWork” 

“subsequently stored Plaintiff’s facial geometry data in their database(s).”  (Id. ¶ 61.) 

Based on these allegations, Plaintiff brings three causes of action against all of the 

WeWork Defendants, with no attempt to differentiate which conduct should be attributed to 

which of the 14 entities he has named.  First, he contends that “WeWork” violated Section 15(a) 

                                                 
1 As of July 15, defendant WeWork Companies Inc. is a dissolved entity and is succeeded 
in interest by WeWork Companies LLC.  For clarity, this brief refers to that named defendant as 
“WeWork Companies” throughout. 
2 Citations to “Compl.” refer to Plaintiff’s Class Action Complaint (Dkt. No. 1-1). 
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of BIPA by failing to have a publicly available written retention and destruction policy.  (Id. 

¶¶ 81–101.)  Second, he claims that “WeWork” violated Section 15(b) by failing to obtain 

written consent from members before collecting their biometric information.  (Id. ¶¶ 102–23).  

And third, he claims that “WeWork” violated Section 15(d) by disclosing his biometric 

information without his consent.  (Id. ¶¶ 124–144.)   

LEGAL STANDARD  

Where a motion to dismiss is brought to enforce an arbitration provision in a contract, 

that motion is properly brought under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(3) for improper 

venue.3  See, e.g., Faulkenberg v. CB Tax Franchise Sys., LP, 637 F.3d 801, 808 (7th Cir. 2011); 

see also Scan Top Enter. Co., Ltd. v. Winplus N.A., Inc., 2016 WL 910502, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 

9, 2016) (citing Cont’l Cas. Co. v. Am. Nat’l Ins. Co., 417 F.3d 727, 733 (7th Cir. 2005)).  When 

considering a motion to dismiss brought under Rule 12(b)(3), the Court is not “obligated to limit 

its consideration to the pleadings [or to] convert the motion to one for summary judgment if the 

parties submit evidence outside the pleadings.”  Id. at 809–10 (internal quotations omitted).   

As to the Rule 12(b)(6) portion of this motion:  to satisfy his pleading burden, a plaintiff 

must allege “enough facts to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell Atl. Corp. 

v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).  Crucially, a plaintiff cannot satisfy Twombly by “merely 

parrot[ing] statutory language of the claims that they are pleading . . . rather than providing some 

specific facts to ground those legal claims.”  Brooks v. Ross, 578 F.3d 574, 581 (7th Cir. 2009).   

                                                 
3 While, in some contexts, a motion arguing that the appropriate venue is arbitration should 
be styled as a motion to compel arbitration, that is not appropriate where, as here, the place of 
arbitration identified in a contract is outside of the district where the motion is filed.  See Haber 
v. Biomet, Inc., 578 F.3d 553, 558 (7th Cir. 2009) (citing 9 U.S.C. § 4). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. Plaintiff’s Claims Should Be Dismissed in Favor of Arbitration. 

As Plaintiff alleges, worked for SpotHero in 2017 “out of a WeWork office space located 

at 125 South Clark Street.”  (Compl. ¶ 59.)  In the context of using WeWork office space, 

Plaintiff accessed WeWork’s online Member Network (Weinstein Aff.4 ¶ 4), and in the process 

accepted WeWork’s Member Network Terms of Service (Safdie Aff.5 ¶ 3), which contain a 

broad, express agreement to arbitrate.  The Member Network Terms of Service, which were in 

effect at all relevant times alleged in the Complaint, contains the following arbitration provision: 

Except that either party may seek equitable or similar relief from 
any court of competent jurisdiction, any dispute, controversy, or 
claim arising out of or in relation to these Terms, or at law, or the 
breach, termination or invalidity of these Terms, that cannot be 
settled amicably by agreement of the parties to these terms shall be 
finally settled: 

If you are based in the U.S., in accordance with the arbitration rules 
of JAMS then in force, by one or more arbitrators appointed in 
accordance with said rules.  The place of arbitration shall be New 
York, New York, U.S.A. 

(Safdie Aff. Ex. A ¶ 42.) 

The above provision is enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act (the “FAA”).  The 

FAA provides that agreements to arbitrate are “valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon 

such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.”  9 U.S.C. § 2.  The 

FAA reflects an “emphatic federal policy in favor of arbitral dispute resolution.”  KPMG LLP v. 

Cocchi, 565 U.S. 18, 21 (2011) (per curiam) (internal quotation marks omitted).  The FAA’s 

                                                 
4 Citations to “Weinstein Aff.” refer to the Affidavit of Brian Weinstein in Support of 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, filed concurrently with this Memorandum of Law. 
5 Citations to “Safdie Aff.” refer to the Affidavit of Abraham Safdie in Support of 
WeWork Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, filed concurrently with this Memorandum of Law. 
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“principal purpose . . . is to ensur[e] that private arbitration agreements are enforced according to 

their terms.”  AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 344 (2011) (alterations omitted).   

To determine whether an arbitration provision applies, federal courts apply state-law 

principles of contract formation.  Faulkenberg, 637 F.3d at 809; see also Scan Top, 

2016 WL 910502, at *3 (quoting Gore v. Alltel Commc’ns, LLC, 666 F.3d 1027, 1032 (7th Cir. 

2012)).  “[O]nce it is clear ‘that the parties have a contract that provides for arbitration of some 

issues between them, any doubt concerning the scope of the arbitration clause is resolved in 

favor of arbitration as a matter of federal law.’”  Scan Top, 2016 WL 910502, at *3 (quoting 

Gore, 666 F.3d at 1032).  

Accordingly, the Court is presented with a two-step inquiry: first, the Court must 

determine whether the parties agreed to a contract with an arbitration clause.  If so, the Court 

must then decide whether this litigation falls within the scope of the arbitration clause.  The 

answer to both questions is yes. 

A. Plaintiff Entered into a Valid Agreement to Arbitrate. 

As discussed above, Plaintiff agreed to WeWork’s Member Network Terms of Service in 

the course of utilizing his WeWork Membership and gaining access to WeWork’s facilities at 

125 South Clark Street.  Each time members log in to the WeWork Member Network, they are 

told in letters directly below the login prompts that “By logging in you agree to our Terms of 

Service & Privacy Policy,” and both “Terms of Service” and “Privacy Policy” are hyperlinks.  

(See Safdie Aff. ¶ 3.)  The “Terms of Service” hyperlink takes members to the Member Network 

Terms of Service.  (Id.) 

This arrangement forms a contract.  Courts have referred to such an arrangement as a 

“hybridwrap” agreement, combining two different layouts: “clickwrap” agreements, where a user 

is presented with terms and conditions and must click a button expressing consent to be bound by 
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those terms, and “browsewrap” agreements, where a website’s terms and conditions are simply 

posted at the bottom of the page.  See generally Nicosia v. Amazon.com, Inc., 384 F. Supp. 3d 

254, 265-66 (E.D.N.Y. 2019).  “Courts will give effect to hybridwrap terms where the button 

required to perform the action manifesting assent . . . is located directly next to a hyperlink to the 

terms and notice informing the user that, by clicking the button, the user is agreeing to those 

terms.”  Id. at 266; see also id. (collecting cases); Forby v. One Techs., LP, 2016 WL 1321194, 

at *1 (S.D. Ill. Apr. 5, 2016) (enforcing clickwrap agreement). 

Illinois courts have held similar arrangements to constitute a contract.  In Hubbert v. Dell 

Corp., 359 Ill. App. 3d 976 (2005), a court found a user agreed to terms and conditions when 

making an online purchase because each webpage in the process contained a hyperlink labeled 

“Terms and Conditions of Sale,” and all online forms stated that “All sales are subject to Dell’s 

Term[s] and Conditions of Sale.”  Because these statements “would place a reasonable person on 

notice that there were terms and conditions attached to the purchase,” the user agreed to those 

terms by completing the purchase.  Id.; see also Nicosia, 384 F. Supp. 3d at 267; Gorny v. 

Wayfair Inc., 2019 WL 2409595, at *5–6 (N.D. Ill. June 7, 2019) (applying Hubbert to hold 

contract formed because plaintiff used website forms that “expressly notified the buyer of the 

existence of terms that would govern the purchase”); Johnson v. Uber Techs., Inc., 

2018 WL 4503938, at *3–4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 20, 2018) (contract formed where account creation 

website stated: “By creating an Uber account, you agree to the Terms of Service & Privacy 

Policy”). 

Accordingly, the Member Network Terms of Service constitute a valid agreement to 

arbitrate between WeWork and Plaintiff. 
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B. This Litigation Is Subject to the Arbitration Clauses. 

In the very first paragraph of the Member Network Terms of Service, in bolded letters, 

WeWork apprised members to: 

Please read these Network Terms carefully, as they affect your 
legal rights.  Among other things, these Network Terms include 
your agreement that except for certain types of disputes 
described in the “Governing Law; Arbitration and Class Action 
Waiver” section below, you agree that, to the extent allowed by 
applicable law, disputes between you and us will be resolved by 
binding, individual arbitration, and you waive your right to 
participate in a class action lawsuit or class-wide arbitration. 

(Safdie Aff. Ex. A ¶ 1.)  The specific arbitration provision to which Plaintiff agreed is extremely 

broad.  He consented to arbitrate, in accordance with JAMS rules, “any dispute, controversy, or 

claim arising out of or in relation to these Terms.”  (Id. ¶ 42 (emphasis in original).)   

Courts faced with such “arising out of” language must interpret it broadly.  See Scan Top, 

2016 WL 910502, at *4 (citing cases).  “Indeed, such a broad provision must be read to cover all 

claims ‘having a significant relationship to the contract and all disputes having their origin or 

genesis in the contract.’”  Id. (quoting Simula, Inc. v. Autoliv, Inc., 175 F.3d 716, 721 (9th Cir. 

1999)).  The present litigation—which asserts that “WeWork” violated Plaintiff’s privacy rights 

by, inter alia, “stor[ing] Plaintiff’s facial geometry data in their database(s)”—clearly “arises out 

of” or “relates” to the Member Network Terms of Service.  Accordingly, arbitration is the only 

proper venue for this litigation, and the litigation should be dismissed. 

Moreover, even if there were some reasonable dispute about the applicability of the 

arbitration clause to this litigation, that dispute would be for the arbitrator, not this Court, to 

resolve.  The arbitration clause provides for arbitration “in accordance with the arbitration rules 

of JAMS.”  (Safdie Aff. Ex. A ¶ 42.)  JAMS arbitration rules contain the following provision:   

Jurisdictional and arbitrability disputes, including disputes over the 
formation, existence, validity, interpretation or scope of the 
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agreement under which Arbitration is sought . . . shall be submitted 
to and ruled on by the Arbitrator.  The Arbitrator has the authority 
to determine jurisdiction and arbitrability issues as a preliminary 
matter. 

JAMS Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Procedures, Rule 11(b); see also JAMS 

Streamlined Arbitrations Rules & Procedures, Rule 8(b). 

The Federal Arbitration Act allows parties to agree via contract that an arbitrator will 

resolve threshold arbitrability questions.  Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc., 

139 S. Ct. 524, 527 (2019); see also Ali v. Vehi-Ship, LLC, 2017 WL 5890876, at *1, 3–4 (N.D. 

Ill. Nov. 27, 2017) (Chang, J.) (“The incorporation of the AAA Rules means that the Plaintiff’s 

arguments about the validity of the arbitration clause (and, to the extent they are made, to the 

Agreement as a whole) must be made to the arbitrator.”).  When presented with a delegation of 

arbitrability disputes, federal courts must allow an arbitrator to make the decision, even if it 

believes the request to arbitrate is “wholly groundless.”  Id. at 530–31.   

II. Plaintiff Fails to State a Claim under BIPA. 

Although the Court need not address the following arguments, in the alternative to 

dismissal under Rule 12(b)(3), Plaintiff’s claims should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) for 

three independent reasons.     

A. Plaintiff’s Claims Are Barred by the Applicable Statute of Limitations. 

A one-year statute of limitations applies to “[a]ctions for slander, libel, or publication of 

[a] matter violating the right of privacy.”  See 735 ILCS 5/13-201.  Plaintiff filed his complaint 

in state court on November 5, 2019.  (See Dkt. No. 1-1.)  He alleges that he accessed a WeWork 

location “in 2017.”  (Compl. ¶ 59.)  Because a one-year limitations period applies to BIPA 
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claims, the last possible day for Plaintiff to file this action was December 31, 2018.6  

Accordingly, the Class Action Complaint is untimely and should be dismissed. 

The one-year statute of limitations governs claims brought under statutes similar to 

BIPA, such as the Illinois Right of Publicity Act (“IRPA”), 765 ILCS 1075/1 et seq.  Like BIPA, 

IRPA creates a private right of action in the privacy realm.  See Blair v. Nevada Landing P’ship, 

369 Ill. App. 3d 318, 323 (2d Dist. 2006) (concluding that the one-year statute of limitations 

governs IRPA claims involving unlawful publication).  As courts’ application of the one-year 

statute of limitations to IRPA shows, it is not necessary for a statute to contain the word 

“publication” in the elements of a claim for the one-year statute of limitations to apply.  A claim 

under IRPA simply requires “[1] an appropriation of one’s name or likeness, [2] without one’s 

consent, [3] for another’s commercial benefit.”  Blair, 369 Ill. App. 3d at 322 (recognizing that 

to state a claim under IRPA, a plaintiff must meet essentially the same three elements as its 

common-law antecedent).  In other contexts, as well, Illinois law requires very little to meet the 

publication element.   See Poulos v. Lutheran Soc. Servs. of Illinois, Inc., 312 Ill. App. 3d 731, 

740 (1st Dist. 2000) (one-year statute applies to the privacy tort of public disclosure of private 

facts; facts need not be communicated to the public); see also Popko v. Cont’l Cas. Co. 355 Ill. 

App. 3d 257 (1st Dist. 2005) (publication element was met solely by virtue of the fact that 

information about the plaintiff’s performance review was transmitted by his supervisor to 

another employee).  The one-year statute of limitations thus applies to certain privacy statutes 

and torts, even if they do not necessarily require publication to the public at large. 

                                                 
6 This date uses the most generous possible interpretation of Plaintiff’s allegation, solely 
for the sake of argument.  WeWork does not concede or admit that Plaintiff used WeWork’s 
services throughout 2017. 
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BIPA is such a privacy statute.  Just as IRPA codified privacy rights and remedies that 

had long been recognized at common law, BIPA—as the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth 

Circuit recently held—likewise “has a close relationship” to a traditional privacy right:  “the 

individual’s control of information concerning his or her person.”  Patel v. Facebook, 932 F.3d 

1264, 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 2019).  Importantly, a violation of BIPA rights does not necessarily 

need to include widespread publication of the person’s biometric data.  See Patel, 932 F.3d at 

1274 (“privacy torts do not always require additional consequences to be actionable”; the privacy 

violation itself can be enough); see also Rosenbach v. Six Flags Entm’t Corp., 2019 IL 123186, 

¶¶ 34–35 (BIPA protects against “real and significant” injuries). 

The structure of BIPA and its legislative history further support the conclusion that 

BIPA’s main aim is to protect against the unauthorized publication of private data.  The Illinois 

General Assembly enacted BIPA to protect against the disclosure and sale of individuals’ 

biometric identifiers and information.  740 ILCS 14/5 (“Biometrics, however, are biologically 

unique to the individual; therefore, once compromised, the individual has no recourse [and] is at 

heightened risk for identity theft . . .”); Rosenbach, 2019 IL 123186, ¶ 34 (stating that the 

General Assembly enacted BIPA in light of assessing the “difficulty in providing meaningful 

recourse once a person’s biometric identifiers or biometric information has been compromised.”) 

(emphasis added).  Moreover, as mentioned in Plaintiff’s Complaint, BIPA was enacted in the 

aftermath of the Pay by Touch bankruptcy.  (Compl. ¶¶ 35, 53.)  The core concern following this 

bankruptcy was that individuals’ biometric data would be sold or otherwise disclosed to third 

parties without those individuals’ consent: the impetus for enacting BIPA was the need to protect 

against disclosure and publication of biometric data.  (See id. ¶ 35 (“That bankruptcy was 
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alarming to the Illinois Legislature because suddenly there was a serious risk that millions of 

fingerprint records . . . could now be sold, distributed, or otherwise shared”).) 

Indeed, courts have repeatedly recognized that the prevention of unlawful disclosure or 

publication of a person’s biometric information is the core privacy interest that BIPA was 

enacted to protect.  “The core object of BIPA . . . is data protection to curb the potential misuse 

of biometric information collected by private entities.”  Vigil v. Take-Two Interactive Software, 

Inc., 235 F. Supp. 3d 499, 510 (S.D.N.Y. 2017), aff’d in relevant part sub nom. Santana v. Take-

Two Interactive Software, Inc., 717 F. App’x 12 (2d Cir. 2017).  Section 15(d), which governs 

disclosure of biometric data, represents BIPA’s primary purpose; the other sections are merely 

ancillary to this goal.  Howe v. Speedway LLC, 2018 WL 2445541 (N.D. Ill. May 31, 2018).  

(BIPA’s specific regulations are “ancillary to [its] primary purpose—protecting [individuals’] 

biometric data . . . .”). 

Here, Plaintiff’s Complaint, which includes a claim under Section 15(d), acknowledges 

that protection against unauthorized publication of biometric data is BIPA’s core privacy 

interest.  Plaintiff alleges that “[u]nlike ID badges or time cards – which can be changed or 

replaced if stolen or compromised – facial geometry features are unique, permanent biometric 

identifiers associated with each individual.”  (Compl. ¶ 8 (emphasis added).)  Plaintiff further 

alleges that this “exposes Illinois citizens to serious and irreversible privacy risks.”  (Id.)  

Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that “if a database containing facial geometry or other sensitive, 

proprietary biometric data is hacked, breached, or otherwise exposed, employees have no 

means to prevent misappropriation and theft of their own biometric makeup.”  (Id. (emphasis 

added).)  Plaintiff alleges that these concerns regarding the publication or disclosure of biometric 

data are what prompted the General Assembly to act: “Recognizing the need to protect its 
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citizens from situations like these, Illinois enacted the Biometric Information Privacy Act.”  (Id. 

¶ 15.)   

Plaintiff’s allegations also make clear that his Section 15(d) disclosure claim is the core 

of his lawsuit.  He alleges, “Since Defendants neither publish a BIPA-mandated data retention 

policy [as provided for in Section 15(a)] nor disclose the purposes for its collection of biometric 

data [as provided for in Section 15(b)], individuals have no idea the extent to whom [sic] any 

Defendant sells, discloses, rediscloses, or otherwise disseminates their biometric data.”  (Compl. 

¶ 56 (emphasis added).)  The main concern, as alleged by Plaintiff, is the disclosure or 

dissemination of biometric data, as regulated by Section 15(d); the claims under Sections 15(a) 

and (b) are ancillary.  (See also id. (alleging that Plaintiff and the putative class are not told “to 

whom Defendants currently disclose their biometric data, or what might happen to their 

biometric data in the event of a merger or a bankruptcy”).) 

These allegations contemplate one key concern: that Plaintiff’s biometric data will be 

disclosed or published to a third party.  Based on BIPA’s text, the case law, and Plaintiff’s own 

allegations, the one-year statute of limitations governing claims of publication of a matter 

violating the right of privacy applies to BIPA, and Plaintiff’s claims are time-barred.  

B. Plaintiff’s Allegations Are too Vague to Sustain Claims Against Defendants. 

After reading the Complaint, Defendants are unsure what, if anything, they are alleged to 

have done.  Plaintiff defines “WeWork” to include the dozen different entities named as 

defendants, then makes his factual allegations—such as they are—against “Defendants” or 

“WeWork” collectively.  To satisfy Rule 8(a), the Plaintiff must give each defendant “fair notice 

of what the claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.”  Bell Atl. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, at 

555 (2007).  Plaintiff fails to do so, and his claims therefore must be dismissed. 
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Plaintiff’s specific factual allegations are brief enough to reproduce here in their entirety.  

He alleges that he “worked for SpotHero in 2017 out of a WeWork office space located at 125 

South Clark Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603.”  (Compl. ¶ 59.)  He then alleges that WeWork—

some or all of the entities he includes in the definition of “WeWork,” presumably—“required 

Plaintiff to have a photograph of his face taken to use as a method of monitoring him in 

WeWork’s office space.”  (Id. ¶ 60.)  Then, WeWork—again, it is unclear which WeWork 

entity—“stored Plaintiff’s facial geometry in their database(s).”  (Id. ¶ 61.)  The rest of the 

Complaint consists of allegations concerning the substance and history of BIPA, formulaic 

recitations of BIPA’s statutory requirements (with perfunctory allegations that “Defendants” 

violated them), and class allegations.  Indeed, the only allegations against specific entities are 

those setting forth their places of incorporation and principal places of business (id. ¶¶ 19–31), 

and conclusory allegations in the “Causes of Action” section that each is subject to BIPA (id. ¶¶ 

84–96, 105–17, 127–39).  Other than 125 South Clark Street, Plaintiff does not allege that he 

accessed or worked at any of the dozen entities named as defendants.  There is no indication why 

WeWork Construction, LLC, for instance, has been named a defendant in this action—especially 

puzzling for an entity that merely hires contractors to design and build WeWork spaces—or what 

relationship any of the location-specific companies (e.g., 332 South Michigan LLC) has to the 

allegations in this case.  Accordingly, because the allegations are insufficient to give Defendants 

notice of the allegations and claims against them, they must be dismissed.  

C. Plaintiff Does Not Plead Negligence, Recklessness, or Intent, and Therefore 
Fails to State a Claim. 

Even setting aside the foregoing, Plaintiff’s claim would still fail because BIPA “only 

subjects violators to statutory damages if there is negligence or willfulness.”  Rivera v. 

Google Inc., 238 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1104 (N.D. Ill. 2017); 740 ILCS 14/20(1)–(2).  Under 
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BIPA’s terms, then, not every violation is actionable.  A statute’s words “cannot be read in a 

fashion that would render other words or phrases meaningless, redundant, or superfluous.”  

People v. Trainor, 752 N.E.2d 1055, 1063 (Ill. 2011).  Concluding that merely alleging a BIPA 

violation sufficed would render the “negligently,” “intentionally,” and “recklessly” terms 

superfluous.  See, e.g., Namuwonge v. Kronos, Inc., 2019 WL 6253807, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 22, 

2019) (dismissing BIPA claims for reckless or intentional conduct because plaintiff’s “abstract 

statements regarding damages [were] insufficient”).  Put differently, there exists a space between 

a violation and an actionable violation.  Plaintiff must plead something more: culpability.  

Plaintiff does not set forth a single allegation regarding any Defendant’s culpability.  

Rather, Plaintiff claims that each Defendant “fails to comply with these BIPA mandates” 

(Compl. ¶¶ 83, 104, 125), and summarily seeks “statutory damages of $5,000 for each intentional 

and/or reckless violation of BIPA . . . or, in the alternative, statutory damages of $1,000 for each 

negligent violation” (id. ¶¶ 101, 123, 144).  At no point does Plaintiff suggest which violation (if 

any) is which, apparently content to let the Court sort that out.  Accordingly, he falls well short 

of his pleading burden, and his claims must be dismissed.   

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s Class Action 

Complaint with prejudice. 
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Dated:  January 27, 2020  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 THE WEWORK DEFENDANTS 
 
By:  /s/ Matthew C. Wolfe    
 One of Its Attorneys 
 

 Melissa A. Siebert 
Matthew C. Wolfe 
Benjamin E. Sedrish 
SHOOK, HARDY & BACON L.L.P. 
111 South Wacker Drive, Suite 4700 
Chicago, IL  60606 
Tel:  (312) 704-7700 
Fax:  (312) 558-1195 
masiebert@shb.com 
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